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9ASJDIPH ' Bail Hearing

(In open‘coutt)

(Case called)’

THE COURT: Please be seated.

All right. Just for the reqord, we'lre here for a bail
heariﬂg. Specificaily, the parties have made a joint motion
for reconsideration of.the detegtion order I issued back in
August, August 1lth specifically.

As I stated on the record back in August, the parties
were, of course,'freé to make a revised bail packége, motion
for that. I am not sure thié is reaily a motion ﬁor
reconsideration éince 60 days or more have paséed. Iﬁ any
event, I think it is a proper motion tq be made.

T reviewed all of the submissions from'thé'parties,
the government's submission and Mr. Mukasey's submissién. I
haﬁé alsco reviewed a‘letter, an e-malil I recéived fromlone of
the victims in this case, Mr. Laurence Leif, and I made that
correspondence a part of the record.

I also made arrangements for other ﬁictims to advise
the government and, through the government, the court whether
they wish to be heard on this subject; which is specifically
the bail of Mr. Dipascali.

As of yesterday, I was advised that no other victims
had‘expressed a desire tod speak, and so I just wanted to see if
that was étill the case. Mr. Litt, are you aware of anyone who
wishes to speak?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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9ASJDIPH Bail Hearing

MR. LITT: DNo, I am not, your Honor.

THE COURT: Is there anyone else here who does wish to

- 'gspeak notwithstanding the fact maybe they didn't tell the

gévernm@nt or the qourt?

I see no one has raised their handsi So that is fine.
I;will read it becauserit.is worth reading the letter from Mr.
Leif. It is part of the record. I think I will just because
he is a victim, he did want to heard. It is dated October
22nd.

Dear Judge Sullivan: I am ﬁot the type of man that
believes in revenge or hurtiﬁg others in‘any way. However,
Mr. Diﬁascali, who I have spdkan on the phone with, has
committed a very evil crime. Everybody in my life has lost
everything including myself. I saw 40 yeaié of work gé up iﬁ
smoke on December 1lth (My IRA and my personal money totaling
$8 million). I was a Madoff client for over 30 Years. I put
my trust and my life into them, and they violated that in the
worst possible way. |

Mr. Dipascali was éhe instrument for taking my life
away. I have now received a 1ife‘sentence at 59:years' old and
did nothing wrong. Mr. Dipascali gave me that sentence on
December 1lth, 2008. I have no chance té get my life in order
and th should he?

EE feelé like the entire system failed me and the
others so we are hoping that you do not let it fail us in your

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

9ASJIDIPH Bail Hearing

courtroom. There is absdiutely no reason to let him out on
bail. Whatever he was going to tell the authorities, he should
ﬂave done so.  Why would you let him blackmail the authorities
with information he may have?

As fa: as I am concerned, keeping him in jail next
yvear before his sentencing should be enough for him to
cocoperate. Butrunderstand one thing ... whatever he tells the
authorities will not help the victims in any way. Why torment
us any more by letting him out on bail?

He committéd the crime and now is his time to pay. I
also think he is a terrible f£light risk even though his family
put up all theix assessﬁfor bail. Those assets wefe puréhased
with our money, so why should they be allowed to use them for
bail or even keep them? Please do not let justice fail us once
more. Deny bail and let's mova on.

Regards, Laurence Leif.

That is the letter. ‘It is parﬁ of the record. Let mé
ask the government or Mr. Mukasey if they wish to respond to
that in any way or have any comments with respect to that
lettex?

MR. LITT: ©Only as to that issue or do you want --

THE COURT:l Just with respect tolthe letter. -

MR; LITT: Well, the government would say two things:

As the court knows, this isinot-a sentenciﬁg
proceeding; it ig a bail proceeding and punishment will come in

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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9ASJIDIPH © Bail Hearing

this_case, I don't think anybody in tﬁis room either at the
government table or the defense table has any doubt about that.
But fhis'is about bail and not what should happéﬂ.prior to
sentencing.

THE COURT: Understood.

MR. LITT: That addresses the first half.

With respect to the second point about assets, the
governmeht hasg takeﬁ gare to ensufe that none of the assets
that are being put up as security are forfeitable. Indeed, one
of the co-signers had some funds that came out of the fiaud
account at Madoff, and thoge assets are not being pledged.
There is an agreement being worked out where that money is
going to be returned to the governﬁ@nt with interest, and it
will go intb the forfeited funds that will eventually be
returned to victims. So that addresses the second point about
any kind of victim money being used to support or secure Mr.
DiPascali'é bail.

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Litt.

Mr. Mukasey, is there anything you wanted to add?

MR. MUKASEY:‘ No, Judge. I will probably make my
comments in the context of my larger argument if it pleases the
court when the court is ready.

| THE COURT: Look, I have read the submissions. I
think I understand the arguments so I don't know that I need
elaboration rch, but I am happy to hear the parties.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
' (212} 805-0300
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I think it is clear the sﬁandard here is a very
straightforwafd one. This is a bail hearing. It is not
gentencing. The prévision that covers this proceeding is Title
18 of the United States Code, Section 3143. That provision
provides fox méndatory detention of a defendént who is awaiting
imposition of a sentence unless the court finds by clear and
cohvinqing evidence that the person is not lik@l? to flee if
released. |

It creates a rebuttable presumption of detention. It
also creates a gtatutory right to bail on a finding that the
person is not a flight risk. The statute ig straightforward
and simple. Issues of féirness, issues of equity, issues of
punishment and retribution are not part of this Stahutory '
ingquiry.

I agree with Mr. Litt when he responded to this letter

of Mr. Leif. This inquiry and the statute simply requires a

determination that the defendant haé.met his burden.by proving
by clear and convincing evidence that he is not likely to flee.
I think that is wﬁere we.should.start and that is where we'll
bagsically end.

. I don't think there ié that much dispute about the
standard here. The parties are in full agreement, as I've said
before. As you know, I was a prosecutor for many years. I
think I understand bail.’ Ilthink I understénd cooperation.

T will say this: After 1éaving the U.S. A&éorney“s

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Office, I became'generél counsel for an insurance broker. We
wexe.in the business of:managing risk.  That i$ £éél1y the
igsue here, whether the bail package proposed manages th@ risk
of Mr. DiPascali's flight. _Thé key proponents of this bail
package proposed by the parties are the following:

First, a PRB of $10 million to be signed by 9
financially—resp&nsible perséns. In addition, that bond is‘to
be secured by cash and property worth $2 million.

In addition, Mr. Dipascali is to be on héme
confinement with an electronic bracelet that has a global
positioning system or tracking system, with permission to leave
his residence only when accompanied by an FBI agent for court
appearances or meetings with the goverﬁm@nt. He may alsé leave
for medical emergencies without an agent should‘such
emergencies arise.

' The bail proposél also calls for Mr. DiPascali's wife
to surrender her travél documents, calis for étrict pretrial
supefvision.

Finally, and most importantly, I think it is not part
of'the package, but a consideration, a valuable important

congideration is the fact that Mr:. Dipascali is cooperating

with the government.

So the guestion is: Are these sufficient mechanisms
to manage the risk of Mr. DiPascali's flight?
Ultimately the risk of flight I think is a function of

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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both Mr. DiPascali's incentive to fiee énd his opportuﬁity to
flee, so I want to consider each of those separately.

His incentivelto flee, as I said last time, I think is
consiaeﬁable. He is facing an astronomical sentence, what
amounts to I think in essence the largest financial fréud in
United States history. It is certainly aménglthem. He is
facing a maximum sentence of 125 years.

But even that is misleading because defendants
freqﬁently will face large maximum penalties based on the
charges in the indictment. The maximum @enaltiés aren't
usually what drives sentencing in this courthouse or in fédaral
courthouses anywhere. Anybody sophisticated and experienced in
federal criminal matters knows it is the.sentencing guidelines
that typically drive sentencing.

So alihough-the press may often make much of the fact
a person is faciﬁg 65 years or 80 years, in ﬁany instances that
is not the reality. .The guidelines come out much lower. A -
maximum of 65 years or 80 years might actually be accompanied
by a éuidelines range of 6 or 7 years, and that is ultimately
what is, I think, crucial to the inguiry beforé the court. It
is not the only consideration, but it is certainly among the‘
most important. |

In this case, however, that is not true.. In this
cage, the guidelinesfcglculatiohs literally are.oﬁf the charts.
I think I did a guick review last time. it isIWOrth probably

SOUTHEERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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just going through it. Anybody who disagrees can let mé.know.

| Under the guidelines, there is a base offense Level 6
pursuant to the fraud provision of the guidelines 2B1.1. That
offense level would then be enhanced by 30_1evels since the
fraud exceeded 5400 millién. In fact, the government estimates

the loss to be 170 billion, or at least that ig the forfeiture

amount. Is that the loss amount, Mr. Litt?

MR. LITT: I would say the loés amount 1s more on the
order of 13 billion, but I think it is over the 400 million,
which‘gets you to the 30 levels.

| THE COURT: Why is the forfeiture for 1707

MR. LITT: Forfeiture and the loss amoﬁnt and
restitution amount, for ekample, can ali be different numbers.
They're calculated differently.

THE COURT: I am asking.

MR. LITT: 177 billion is the amount of moh@y that
moved through the fonzi accoﬁnﬁ, and so it represents proceeds.
I would just, I don't think it is likely to makena difference
to your Honor's calculation, but the base offense level I think
would be 7 as opposed to 6 because one of the counts would
involve a statutory maximum of 20 years or more.

THE COURT: So it ig 77

MR. LITT: Base offense of 7.

THE COURT: I don't think it will make a diff@rence,
either,_bﬁt, in any event, there is an enhancement of 30 levels

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300 '
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because the loss amount is 13 billion, which isg much, much

higher than the maximum under the guidelinesg, 1400 milliomn.

.For 13 billion, there is an enhancement of six levéls_because

the scheme involved more than 250 victims. The victims in this
case number in the thOusandé or tens of thousands.

There will be an additional two level enhancement
b@cause the fraud involved sophisticated means ana‘arguabiy
because a substantial part of it was committed from outside of

the United States, at least some part was in London. I think

- gophisticated means is sufficient for that two-level

enhancement.

There will be an additiénal two-level enhancement
because the scheme substantially endangered the solvency or
financial security of a hundred oﬁ more victims. That ig 2Bl1.1
{b) (1) (4).

There will be an additional three~1ével‘enhan6@ment
because it appears that the defendant was a manager or
supervigor of c¢riminal activity that involved five or more
persons or was otherwise extensive. I don't know if that is
disputed or not. It seems to me qertainly it is extensive and
his role was crucial.

‘Does the govetnment have a view on that role in the
offense? |

MR. LITT: I think three levels would be appropriate.
I thinklthere is still the fact it occurred to a person

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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associated with a broker-dealer.

THE COURT: That is an additional --

MR. LITT: Fouxr.

THE COURT: -- four levels?

‘There will be another two iévels of enhancement for
aﬁﬁse of position or trust, or no?

MR. LITT: So. If you get foﬁr levels for being a
broker-dealer, you don't get the two levels.

THE COURT: That was my mistake then. It is a net
two. Then two more levels for obstruction of justicé in
connection with Mr. DiPascali's false testimony before the SEC.

MR. LITT: We are not sure that --

THE COURT: Didn't he plead guilty to an obstruction
of fense? |

MR. LITT: Yes, but wouldn't that come in with
grouping with the other offenses, andryou wouldn't get fhe two
levels on top;of that. I am not sure. I know in Mr. Madoff's
sentencing he had a similér series of enhancements, and that
was not one of them.

THE COURT: All right. We can come back to thét, I
suppose, when we get to sentencing.

There . will be a three-level reduction for écceptance
of responsibility, but that puts his guideline ‘range in the
neighborhood of 50 or more. For the unlnltlated the
guideliines tops out at Levéi 43, which calls for a term of life

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P. C
(212) 805-0300
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in prison; The defendant's guidelines range will be seven or
more levels above the highest contemplated in the range.

So I don't think I need a lengthy presentence report

to tell me absent cooperation, Mz . Dipascali will be looking at

a guidelines range of life, o that I wogld have to come down
to sentencing hiﬁ to 125 years, which woul& be the statutory
maximum.

That obviously is a'cruciallpét@ntial sentence which
would create an‘incentive to flee. The parﬁies argue this
incentive to fiee is offset by a number of factors, including
the financial consequences of jumping bail, including Mr.
biPascali's_reluCtaﬁce to harm hig co-signers on the bond which
includes friends and family members would be bankrupted if he
were to flee, his reluctance to separate himself from his
family with whom he is so close, and ultimately I think
probably the most important is his desire ﬁo cooperate and his
willingness to cooperate in expectétion of perhaps a reduced
sentence. I'll take each of those.

The reluctance to harm co-signers is one that is
difficult to assess because although the parties proﬁose a $10
milliég bond to be co-signed by 9 financiallyuresponsible
persons, there is no indication as to who those pergsonsg are.
There ig a refexence‘to Mr. DiPascali's sister, I think,.but

the others are not before me. I don't know whether these folks

have the wherewithal to shrug off a $10 million forfeiture

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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split 9 ways or whether they it really would bankrupt them.

MR. MUKASEY: I'll give you -

THE COURT: Irwiil give you an opportunity to do that
or make a submission, which would be more useful. It is |
difficult for me to know whether that would have the deterrent
effect that is proposed here. I just don't know who these
people'ére or what. their financial situation is. I dqn'é know
whether any of their financeé‘are derived from this fraud in
any way. |

Mr. Litt has indicated that to the extent there was
any connection, the government made inguiries and took steps to
make sure that property was not part of what was posted. I am
glad to hear that, but I don't have details on this. It is not
clear to me Whether the properties that ar@‘proposed_as
security for the bond which is "three family—owned properties
with equity in ap?roximately £6G0,000," includes property that
would othefwise be fbrfeitabl@. I don;t-know the answer to
that. You afe shaking your head?

MR. LITT: None of, as I‘said, none of the security to
be posted in support of the bond is forfeitable.r

| THE COQURT: VAll‘right. In.any event, it still is
difficult for me to assess the deterfent value of‘the bond with
those co-signers.

Separation from family members is a point Mr. Mukasey
had madé. He noted that Mr. Dipascali is ektremely close,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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9ASJIDIPH Bail Hearing B
*indescribably close" is the way he phrasea it with his family
and that to flee would séparat@ him fxom his family, and if he
were to be appréhended, would ensure a life sentence which
would separate him from his family. |

He is looking at the prospect 5f a life sentence
whether of'not he séparates himself from his family. I think
it really takes me to the next consideration, which is
cooperation, bécause'COoperati5n is the driver for any
incemtiﬁé Mr. Dipascali may have to flee.

That really is the principél argument that the parties
have made, is that his incentive to flee is eliminated by the

fact he 1s cooperating and he recognizes that his best hope for

a reduced sentence and for being reunited with his family is

through his continued cboperation.

As Mr. Mukasey put it in his submission,
"Mr. Dipascali has only one route to.avoid a life sentence, and
that is to be a truthful, credible and a tireless cooperating
witness."

The fact is that Mr. DiPascali's incentive to flee
rises and falls with the quality of'ﬁis cooperation. If the

only people he can cooperate are currently in prison in Butner,

. North Carolina or at the bottom of a swimming pool someplace,

it would seem Mr. Dipascali is going to have a great incentive
to flee because his cooperation ien't under those circumstances
likely to yield much fruit.

SOUTHERN_DZSTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10
| 11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23

24

25

15
9ASJDIPH Bail Hearing
Now, Mr. Mukasey asserts that Mr. Dipascali has,
"demonstrated to the United States Attorney's Office, to the

SEC and to the FBI that he wants to be and has the potential to

. be a remarkable cooperating witness."

I simply have no idea or no way of knowing whether'
that is true.'lNo one haS'made any submission to the court,
sealed or otherwise, indicating the guality of Mr. DiPascali's
cooperation to date or the prospects of his cooperation to
substantially assist the government in future prosecutions, yet

it would seem to me that is a crucial fact for the purposes of

" assessing his incentive to flee.

That is why I was somewhat surprised at the submission
I received because it doesn't allow me to éddress that issue.
The parties basically tell me back in August I Should trust
them and basically 1@ave-i£ to the prdféssionals. I have great
respect for everybod? at both of the tables in this courtxroom.
I.have worked with them or at least.manylof them. I think they
are smart and dedicated people. I have a high opinion of each
of them.

When people start telling me to.trust them, I
generally watch my wallet, and'sé I am not prepared to defer to
the opinion of the government or to Mr. Mukasey or to the New
York Times or whatever straw poll anybody wants to take.

I don't want to mean to cast aspersioné on anyone, but
until December of 2008, it seems to mé that'nobody here and

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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none of the entities they represent had the first clue about
what turned out to be the biggest fraud in U.S. history, a
fraud that was 20 to 30 years in the making.

It is true of the U.S. Attorney's Office, the FBI and
SEC which, in fact, although investigated the firm and going so
far as to actually take testimony from Mr. ﬁipascaii, concluded
that there was no problem at least in part based on the |
perjured testimony of just Mr. Dipascali. So I am skeptical
and I think T have‘a right to be.

I have neﬁer met Mr. Dipascéli other than to take his
guilty plea. Perhaps if I spent as much time with him as you
ali have, I would want to give him bail. Perhaps I would want
to give'him all my money to invest. He seemé to have that
effect on people. N

Without the opportunity to do that, I am limited to
the facts before me. The facts before me are that
Mr. Dipascali was a central figure in the'largest financial
fraud in U.S. history. He participated in that fraud for
decades. In 2006, at a time wﬁ@n he could have come cleén and
limited the losses to investors in the scheme, at least some,
at least partially, he lied under oaﬁh to the SEC, pérpetuating
a fraud for another two énd a half years and'extending the
losses to additional investors and who knows how many
additioﬁal billions of dollars.

He is now facing a sentence that ensurés'that he will.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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die in jail unless there is a_sUbstantial 5K letter from the
government. - So in this regard Mr. Dipascali seems to be
distinguishable or at least different from the cooperating
witnesses identified in the government's submission.

it seems to me each of those cooperators had ready
térgets against whom they could cooperate. Scott Sullivan was
the CFO of Worldecom. He‘signed'up as a cooperator and
testified against his boss, Mr. Ebbers, who was more culpable.

Mr. Madoff has already pleaded gullty in this case.
He has élready been sentenced to 150 years in jail, so I don't
think Mr. Dipascali is needed for that prosecution. Mr.
Mukasey asserts, at Page 11 of his submission, that, "aithough
Mr. Dipascali is likely faéing a iife sentence today under the
sentenciﬁg guidelines, he will not flee because he is confident,
that his cooperation will be so substantiél that it may afford
him an opportunity, however brief, to return to his family
post-sentence.” | |

Now, that may be true, but again I have no way of
assessing how substantial his cooperation may be, no way.of
assessing whether there is anybody who will be prosecuted as a
result of his cooperation. While I am happy to give the
parties an opportunity to supplement the record in this regard,
and iflthere igs disclosure of any information that would
conceivébly compromise an investigation, I will certainly
entertain a fequest to seal it. I may want to seal such a

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805~0300 B
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9ASJIDIPH Bail Hearing
submission. I would consider doing that.

Without more iﬁformation, I dontt feel that 1 am in a
position to asséss whether Mr. DiPascali's cooperation is part
of a sincere effort to be what Mr. Mukasey says is "a truthful,
credible and tireless cooperating witnéss," or whether this ig
gimply the last scam in a deca&es»loﬁg saga of lies, faise
statements and schemes designed to defraud clients, investors,
regulators and now the court.

I will say this: I thought Mr. DiPascali's endeavor
to portray himseif as a kid from Queens with a high school
d@gree,-és a 19-year-old joining the Madoff firm was{ I thought
it was a bit of a con. This is not a case-about a 19-year-old

kid from Queens. This is a man in his 30s, 40s and 50s who

deliberately lied and cheated for his own personal gain and

enjoyed the fruits of the fraud.

Until I see an actual forfeiture order, he might still
be enjoyiﬁg the fruits of that fraud. The suggestion that
Mr. Dipascali believed that -- and this ié é’qu¢te, from Mr.

Mukasey's submission -- despite the fact that no trades were

being executed, investors would not lose any of their funds

because Mr. Madoff owned a masgsgive portfolio of assets hé could
liquidate to satisfy rédemption requests if and when ciients
xequesﬁe& the return of their funds;‘ That stiik@s me. as if not
ludicrous, surprising.

In any event, without additional information 1_think-

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
: (212) 805-0300
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9ASJDIPH Bail Hearing '

that enables me to assess the quality of Mr. DiPascali's

‘potential cooperation, I don't think I can conclude that he has

carried his burden ﬁnder Section 3143, but I will give the
partieg an opportunity to do that. |

I want to address also Qpportunity to flee. I have to
talked moétly about incentive to flee. The bail package
proposed by the parties includes additional conditions that
will limit ;~ though not eliminate ~- Mr. DiPascali's ability
t@.flee. The béil package calls for home detention with
electronic monitoring, including a GPS device to determine
where he is.

It also provides that other than for medical

emergency, Mr. Dipascali will not be permitted to leave his

‘home unless escorted by an FBI agent, then only for the

purposes of meeting with the government or for court
appearances.

As Mr; Litt conceded previously, no systém is
foolproof and even these restrictions éan’t eliminate the
ability of a determined defendant to flee. If ﬁhe technology
were, in fact, foolproof, then I think virtually all defendants
would be entitled to bail pending sentencing. Unfortunately,
that is not yet the case with the technology. While the
current propoéal I think is an improvement.on,the prior
proposal, and it does_further restrict Mr.'DiPascaii's
opportunity to abscond, I think the central inquiry for me

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212 B805-0300
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turns really on Mr. DiPascali's incentivés to flee as I talked
about before. .

Now, there is a suggestion in the govérnment's paper
that Mr. Di?ascali does not havé the resources to flee and the
government asserts that he has '"neither the expefiencé nor
wherewithal to live abrﬁaé." It ig at Page 4.

It seems to me living abroad is not that difficult if
you have eﬁough money . Unless the government is prepared to
tell me every dollar of this fraud has been accounted‘for,”I
don't think I am prepared to rule out at least the possibility
Mr .- Dipascali has access to a large pile of money someplace.
That can also be addressed in a supplemental gubmission.

My principal concern is his incentive to flee which I

think turns largely on the quality of his potential

cooperation. So I am going to reserve my decision to allow the

parties to make that submission. I ﬁill also hear from you
now. I won't shut you out.

Mr. Litt or Mr. Mukasey, is there anything you want to
add?

MR. LITT: We'll consider a sealed sﬁbmission.

“THE - COURT: Okay.

MR. MUKASEY: I want Eo make a few points, Judge.

THE COURT: Certainly.

MR. MUKASEY: Now, I‘am bperating a little bit herxe
with one hand tied behind my back and maybé a little biﬁ of a

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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plindfold on because I would ldve to be able to stand here'andr
tell you about the quallty of his cooperation, but I can't do
it and I don't want to compromise his ability to be an
effective cooperator.

THE‘COURT: Which is why I think the submission is a
better way to dd this.

MR. MUKASEY: Right. i‘can't make the government do
that. I would lové the government to do that. éhere is
nothing I would like more. It would go a long.Way towards
answering soﬁe of the questions and addressing some of the
concerﬁs of the court. |

T Will add a few other thoughts that maybe will color
some of your thinking as you consider the new submissions. We
thought a lot about the p:@sumption in favor of detention after
you addressed it on August 1lth and what it means, and I dén't
know if a presumption in favor ofldetention means, you know,
you start with 90 peréent of the weight'bn one side of the
scale, 85 or --

THE COURT: I thought the same thing. There is a 30
percent chance it will rain tonight. 1Is it likely to rain or
does it have to be 51 percent before it is likely to rain?

MR. MUKASEY: That is looking at it in é worst-case

scenario, not preponderance. Presumption in favor means a

‘heavy presumption.

The natural guestion next. is what does it take to

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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rebut that presumption? I think these are to a large extent
"feel" issues for prosecutors énd judges. There is no right
aﬁswer, no case law answer. It is a facts and circumstances of
each case kind of inquiry.

In thinking about that, I think of how do you get some
of that 90 percent of the weight onto the good side of the
scale? That is why we tried to lay out for you Mr. DiPascali's
relationship with his family who is here today, his four kids}

Gregory, Frank, Jr., Mike and Dorothy. They are all, exéept

-for'the minor child, three of the four co-signers on the bond.

They are not rich people. They are blue collar, working-class
kids, students, recent graduates of ﬁniversity.

They are not the kind of people thét if a $10 million
or their share of a $iO million bond were violated, they would

be able to pay the money and go on with their lives. It would

"ruin them and devagtate them. For the kids, for Dorothy and

for Gregory and Frank, Jr., it would be a penalty that would

“hurt them for the rést of their lives. It would cripple them.

financially for the rest of their liveé, in all likelihood.

Mr. DiPascali's mother is here as well, Josephine. I
don’ﬁ know how better to describe or how to prove to your Honoxr
that she has moral suasion over him other than to put it in a
document , put it in a submission thaﬁ we gave you. I don't
know if your Honor wanted to talk to her. I don't know any
other way to tell you how close this man is with his family and

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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how he would do‘nothing to hurt them.

I think if you think about thaﬁ, gome of the weight
begins to come off from the presumptioﬁ of detentién‘ané maybe
shift a little bit ﬁo'the release side of the scale.

| THE COURT: Look, it is still not clear. to me what the
impact of a.$10 million bond forfeiture would be on each of
these people, I don;t know whether they're effectively. |
judgment-proof. If they're blue collar, as you say, I think
they are.

MR. MUKASEY: I think each one of them ig obviously
deemed by the ﬁ;s. Attorney's Office to be a
financiallywrésponsible person. Sowme are family members, some
are extended family members. Your Honor, you can be a
hard-working peison who hag saved money inja 401 (k).program
like Mr. DiPascali's sister.who lives a very, very moderate
life, but has been working for 25 or 30 years and}has built up
a 401 (k). It is her entire life savings. It is about
$SOG,OOO. She has piedged that as security.

THE COﬁRT: I want to hear.the details of that. I
think that would be important to know those details, probably
not to do ik here piécemeal, but in a submission;

MR. MUKASEY: I want to give youf Honor.one example;
fhese are not péople who, you know, are stones that you can't
get blood from and these-ar@ ﬁot §eop1e who can pay off a
million bucks and go on with their lives. These are peopie who

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{(212) 805-0300
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will be crippled, and we'll lay thaﬁ out for.you_in our
submission.

The other thing I want to address, Judge, ié a couple
of your comments. One of the great things about cooperation is
that judges get to know cooperating witnesses over time, and as
your Honof knows very well, you put é cooperating witnesé on
the stand for a t;iél and a judge assesses his demeanor and
lets the judge assess the credibility of his testimony, let ﬁhe
judge hear his story under oath from beginning to énd.

In some cases, and berhaps Mr..DiPascali’s case,
you'll hear that story or another judge wiil‘hear that sﬁory in

multiple trials. I will let the U.S. Attorney's Office talk

‘about in a sealed submission who the targets of other

invegtigations are, if any, and Qho the subjects are.

Over_time we're.confident that when you understand his
role at the Madpff operation and yoﬁ understand where he came
from and you understand-how effective his testimony is going to
be, maybe your Honor will have a different view of Mr.
DiPascali’s entrance into this scheme and his exit from the
scheme on December 1lth.

THE COURT: That is certainly true. I don't rule that

"out. I don't claim to have anything other than a tiny snapshot

T got from the guilty plea and from the limited submigsion that

have been made in the case. I don't for a moment think that I

know evérything.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, bP.C.
(212) 805-0300
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I also for a moment don't doubt your sincerity. I
have known you fdr a loﬁg'time.. When you make a submigsion
that you have made, I don't question whether you believe what
you're saying. I have a role to play. I think you acknowledge
that. | |

MR. MUKASEY: Understood. I appreciate’what you say
about my credibility becau$e it was me who discussed with Frank

how to present himself to you at the time of his guilty plea,

‘and he was not coming into the Madoff operation with a Harvard

MBA or with a silver spoon in his mouth. He was coming in as a
19-year-old kid.from Queens who said I'll get coffee 1f you
want me to get coffee. This may be collateral, but I want your
Honor to know that that was something thét he we wouldn't have
put forward to the court ﬁnless it were true.

The last point I want to .make here, Judge, and we'll

) make a submission, and I know the government will, &he one

factor that your Honor has overloocked here I think is hopé.

THE COURT: ﬂope?

MR. MUKASEY: Hope. Mr. Qipascali does not have the
means to flee. I think between us and the government, we'll be
able to lay that out for you. He doesn't havé the desire, the
inclination to flee.

He is cdopexating in the hopes of getting a lighter
sentence and he knows darned well where hope is living. Hope
is living here with the government  and with the FBI in the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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hopes of getting a 5K letter, be a good enough cooperator that
he may be able to see some time, he may be able to get a
Herculean downward departure under 5K.

He knows that hope lies with you ox whatefer judge
sentences him and the knowiedge that your Honor and every judge
in this courthouse appfeciates the value of cooperation and

will take into account what I think is going to be

" extraordinary cooperation.

He knows that hope resides with his family because
that is all he has got now. He doegn’t have,a'penny. He
doesn't have any of‘the fahcy things he'used.to have. He
doesn't have anything except the clothes on his back in the
prison, and whén he gets home by the end of this case, every
penny that he has essentially will be forfeited.

The séme'way I think that he knows that hope is Qith
the government and with the court and on the witness stand‘and
with‘his family, he knows‘wh@re ruination is. He knows where
absolute ruin, absolute loss is. Absolute loss is trying to
run from this. Absolute loss is flight. He knows that he may
never get out of prison. He may get a life sentence.

‘When you're adding that in the balance, what do yoﬁ
pick? Certain ruination, fleeing, having your family and your
friends impoverished, getting chased down by a bunch of federal
agents who are going to lock you up and make life miserabléfand
absolutely get a life sentence, oOr are you goiﬁg to_choosa the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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SASJIDIPH ' . Bail Hearing |
thing that gives you a 1ittle bit of hope?

Are you going to choose the thing -- you know what, it
is not a definite. Maybe Judge Sullivan is not going to give
vou credit or judge whoever is not going ﬁo give you the
credit. Maybe I won't earn the credit to gét back to my family
for a couple of years, but you mighﬁ as well choose hope over
definite destruction.

I hope he understands very well that flight.is
definite destruction, personal and familial and to his friends.
That is why he is not going to flee. We'll address the other
things that I think will be useful to your Honor in a following
gsubmission.

THE COURT: It goes up tb the bottom line, there is
nothing in the tank, there may ﬁot be much reason to hope and
flight might‘belworthy the gaﬁble. If there really is
cooperation that he can providé that would be subsﬁantial, then
he has incentives to stick around and disincentives to flee.

I just dpn’ﬁ feel T am reaily'in‘a positipn to gauge
that right now. This is a high stakes game.

MR. MUKASEY: I think we can get you that.

THE COURT: Mr. Litt, was there gsomething you wanted
to say? |

MR. LITT: ©No, your HORor.

THE COURT: All-riéht. Well, as I said, I think the
inquiry is a pretty simple one. I am not looking to go outside

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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of 3143. I am not looking to address or consider issues that

are not part of that analysis. I don't think it is proper for
a judge to dé that. This a straight statutory analysis.

I do want to address a couple of other points just
beéause, frankly, they have come up in this proceeding and in
prior préceedings or in sub@issions.‘ Because of the_nature of
this case and potential for confusion of victims and the'public
at large, I.want to address this.

Tt has been suggested that my decision to deny bail in
the first instance to Mr. Dipascali had undermined the ability
to investigat@ or prbsecute others. I guess that argﬁment

turns on two sole arguments:

The first is by denying bail; Mr. Dipascali no longer

" has the will to cooperate and will, in essence, sort of sulk in

his cell and deprive the gdvexnment'ané everybody else of the

benefits of his cooperation. . That is the first I guess

subtle argument.

The other is even if the spirit is wiiling} there is
no ability to assist because he can't possibly assist while he
is in custody. Mr . Mukasey, you have talked.ébOUE howlyour
client is determined to cooperate, he is at a lifchhanging
turnaround, he is determined to make amends and try to set
things right. Do you want- to gualify that in any way?

‘Does it turn on whethér or not he islon'bail?

MR. MUKASEYi Whaﬁ'z would address, your Honor, is the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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firet inquiry. Mr. Dipascali, I can never khow exactly how his
informatioﬁ is helping thé government, whether it is usefull I
fuliy believe that it is éxtremely useful to their
investigation.

But I can tell you, and I think the government would
confirm, that his @nthﬁsiasm and his forthrightnesé and his‘
Spirif and his energy being devoted to cooperating is as strong
now if not stronger than it was when he was at large.

THE COURT: Good. All right. I am glad to hear that.
That is exactly‘what T eﬁpected.'

| MR. MUKASEY: In a way you can say, hearing some of
your_Honor's comments, he may have redoubled his efforts at
which I think wére a hundred percent at the outset of this_
thing. But we are not going!po étand here and say we're taking
our ball and going home becauée he is locked up.

He is going to stay and cooperate until they tell him
he doesn't have to éooperate any more.

THE COURT: ‘Goéd. I am glad to hear that. The next
subtle argument was the one that basically gges like this:

- Even though the spirit is willing, the flesh is not
able to carry through on the désires because being detained
will make it impossible to effectively cooperate. The
government seems to have stoked that argument with its -most
recent submission which says, "release will allow Mr. Dipaécali
to cdoperaté far more effectively, making the contents of one

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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hélf floor of an office building containing the eguivalent of
thousands of documents more readily available." That is a
quote.

Mr, Litt, I have to aﬁdress-that heéd—on.‘ The fact
Mr.'aiﬁascali is in custody at MCC doesn't prevent the
government from:taking Mx. Dipascali.out to iook at documents,
your ability to send aﬁ e-mail to the Maréhal Service to have
him produced on a day's notice or less.

In addition, you have the ability'to get a court order
that authorizes FBI agents to take Mr. Dipascali out of the MCC
to take him up to the Madoff offices, to look at documents as

long as you see fit, 24 hours a day if necessary, 7 days a

- week, and bring him back to Lower Manhattan, the MCC or MDC if

it is in Brooklyn.

211 of that would szeem to be doabie. In fact, maybe
it is being done as wé speak. The propoéed bail_packagé would -
require FBI agents to travel to Bridgewater, New Jersey to pick
up Mr. Dipascali and travel to Manhattan to go to the officés
of the Madoff firm and then return back to Bridgewater, New
Jersey.

If anything, it would seem to me it Would bé easier to
take cut and drop off Mr. Dipascali at the MCC or MDC which is
across the street from the FBI or U.S. Attorneyfs Office.

MR. MUKASEY: There is an FBI agent who lives within a
éhort distance of Mr. Dipascali who Has volunteered to escott

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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him béck and forth as necessary.

THE COURT: There are séveral hundred at 26 Federal
Plaza who can eaéily jusé walk oﬁ drive a block and a half. ' I
found that to be somewhat disingenuous, frankly. It seems to
mé there is nothiﬁg that would prevent Mr. Dipascali from
cooperating. |

T want to say a few words about cooperation. I have
known.Mr. Mukasey and Mr. Litt and.Ms. Baroni for a long time.
Mr. Mukasey and I were prosecutors tog@ther.for about a decade.

I supervised him until he became a supervisor in his own right.

We tried cases together.

Mr. Mukasey, do you think I don't understand how
cooperation. works?
MR. MUKASEY: I know you know, Judge.

THE COURT: Do you think I need to seek out some of

~the senior judges on this Bench and ask them to explain it to

me real slow?

MR, MUKASEY: Probably not.

THE COURT: Mr. Litt, do you think I need to read,
"Cooperation for Dummies"? |

| Do you think I need to use my mellifluous baritone

voice to ask long questions of people?

MR. LITT: No, your Honor. I don't think the
government has suggested that.

THE COURT: I don't think you have, either. T don't

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
' {212) 805-0300
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méan to giva‘aﬁ§body a hard time. The fact is I get it. I
want to make sure the victims and the public get it.

Look, if Myr. Dipascali can prbvide substantial
assistance in the @rosecution of others and recovering, God
willing, assets that can be used to at least defray or provide
restitution, defray the‘lossés or provide restitution to
victims, he will receive the benefit from that.

" That is how the system works. It is a recognition we
need to provide incentives for defendants to cooperate so that
in the interests of justice, others who are culpable can be

prosecuted and so that information that might allow for the

‘recovery of other assets can be obtained.

If Mr. Dipascali can provide that kind of cooperation,
he will benefit. Now, on some level that may be galling to
victims; I understand that}_buf it is done and it is encouraged
80 thét justice in a.broader sense can be reaiized.

That is how the system works. It has over the years

worked pretty well, and there should be no doubt that is what

Mr. Dipascali is hoping for, that is what Mr. Mukasey is hoping
for and the government is hoping for -- frankly, I'm hoping
for -- hoping that we will be able to give more information, to

get to the truth of what happened and alsc to recover whateVer

_ assets may be left and at this point unrecovered.

, So no one should have any illusions about that. With

‘that in mind, I want to raise one other issue with the parties.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, FP.C.
(212) 805-030C0
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Typically in this district at least, defendanté who cooperate
have their sentencings deferred for guite some time while their
cooperation is ongoing. In some cases ihat can také yvears, and-
so the cooperation examples that were provided in the
government's submission talked about four individual
cooperators who got bail. That was the point of‘mentioning

them. In each case, those cooperators were not sentenced for

many yvears after they pled guilty. So some have not been

senténced yet, although they pled some time ago.

That is not the only way cooperation will work. There
is a provision under federal law, and some districts it is the
norm, that a dafendanﬁ would be sentenced rélatively gquickly
for the crimes they've pled guilﬁy to and then later the
government could make a mofion pursuant to Rule 35 (b) of.the
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, advising the court éf the
cooperation they provided-and making a motion for reduced
sentence ét that time.

That is certainly an option, and in light of the
considérétions contained in the letter of Mr. Leif and others,_
I wouid ask the parties here to consider whether that Would be
a way to proceed:in this case. VIf there is going to be a
submission, I would like you to consider that and address that
ag well.

My goal is not to mess with Mr. Di?ascali, but at the
same time I am very mindful of the objectives of sentencing |

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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“that are set forth in Title 18 of the United States Code,

Section 3553 (a), which talks about restitution for victims.
Certainly I don't know if forfeiture will happen faster if
there is a sentencing that will happen sconer rather than
later, but also promoting respecﬁ for the law and just
punishment.

These are things that to delay sentencing for a period
of years has to ﬁave an impact on the victims in this case in
some way. That is ﬁot the only consideration, but I do think
it is a consideration that needs to be thought.about long and
har&. So I would ask the parties to consider-that.' I haven't
made up.my miﬁd on it, but I don't see that there is any real
down-side to doing it.. I think there may be some advantages.

You don't have to address it now. Mr. Litt, if there
is something you want to say, feel free to.

MR. LITT: T-‘e ." -~)E

THE COURT: All right. That's what I wanted to say
today. Is there anythihg elsé that anybody else would like to
add?‘ The government? |

MR. LITT: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Mukasey?

MR. MUKASEY: . Ne, your‘Hohor. We are going addréés
these concerns in a submission.

THE COURT: All right. I want to thank everyone who
came. I thank Mr. DiPascali's family members. fhis can't be

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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easy on you. I am sensitive to that. I am sure he appreciates
your being here. I have ﬁo doubt he does. |

I want to thank the victims. This can be a jarring
experience to have to relive it for every court appearance is
probably not easy, either. I want to thank‘you for your
patience. Thank you for being here and taking the time to be
here.

I think I will probably give you a date by which to.
make a submission. i am ngt ordering you to make a
supplemental submission, but if you're going to make one, could
I ask you to make it by a week from Friday,‘all right?

MR. LITT: Yes, your Honor. '

THE COURT: Mr._MukaS@y, all right?

MR.fMUKASEY: That is fine. I think the government
will have to take the laboring oar on this.

THE COURT: I don't want to put a timetable on it. I
am not ordering anything. I am saying it would be useful. I
am reserving‘on the motion. I have expressed what I think |
would be useful to have. It is not my placé to tell the
government what they need to include in a submission or to tell
them théy have to make a submiseion.

MR. LITT: My reflex, of course, is always to agree
with the court on time constraints such as those you suggested.

THE COURT: I will ieave it to you.

MR. LIT@: What your Honor has raised today, your

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS; P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Hoﬁox has raised a whole sefies of issues that are going to
take some considerable thought, I think, by muiltiple people in
my office as to how to address them most effectively.

So we will endeavor to do'it as promptly as we can. I
hope that your Honor will accept a submission 1if it is after a
week from Friday. A

THQ COURT: That is fine. I withdraw that. I wom't
give you a date by which to do it. Mr. Dipéscali'has an

iinterest in getting this resolved quickly as do you, the

~ government. I don't doubt the sincerity of anybody who has

made motions and made arguments. As I said before,ll have
nothing but the greatest réspect for the lawyers in this rooﬁ.

So if and when you want to make a submigsion, you can
dd that, just let me know.

{Court adjourned)
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